1
2 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**
3

4 SARAH JANEEN ROSE

5 Appellant,

6 vs.

7 DAVID JOHN ROSE

8 Respondent.
9
10

Electronically Filed
Jul 13 2022 04:54 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
CASE NO. 84295

11 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**
12

13
14 RACHEAL H. MASTEL, ESQ.
15 Nevada Bar No. 11646
16 KAINEN LAW GROUP, PLLC
17 3303 Novat Street, Suite 200
18 Las Vegas, Nevada 89129
19 Tel: (702) 823-4900
20 Fax: (702) 823-4488
21 Email: service@kainenlawgroup.com
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

KAINEN LAW GROUP, PLLC
3303 Novat Street, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89129
702.823.4900 • Fax 702.823.4488
www.KainenLawGroup.com

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTION STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final judgment pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1). The Order to be appealed is the *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order*, which was filed on January 31, 2022 (**APPX VIII:1516-1532**), and for which Notice of Entry was done on January 31, 2022. **APPX VIII:1533-1550**. Also being appealed is a non-final Order denying Sarah's *Motion for Judgment Pursuant to NRCP 52(c) or in the Alternative Motion for Summary Judgment*, which was filed June 25, 2021 (**APPX VI:1105-1124**), and for which Notice of Entry was done on June 30, 2021. **APPX VI:1125-1147**. The appeal from that Order was timely filed on February 15, 2022. **APPX IX:1600-1643**.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(10) this is an appeal from a family law decision which is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. However, pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12), there are issues within this appeal which should be heard by the Supreme Court, including the issues related to the duty spouses owe to each as adversaries in a divorce, the application of

1 contract law to stipulated Decrees, the effect of signing a document and
2 thereafter claiming the same was not read, the ability of a court to decide a
3
4 NRCP 52(c) Motion on the transcript of the trial, and the application of *Day*
5
6 v. *Day*, 80 Nev. 386, 389-390, 395 P.2d 321, 322-323 (1964).

7 STATEMENT OF ISSUES

8 Appellant (hereinafter "Sarah") has identified three (3) issues to be
9
10 addressed within this opening brief, under which she believes the District
11 Court's Order was in error.

- 13 1. Whether the district court erred in finding that the survivorship
14 benefit option is not community property;
- 16 2. Whether the district court erred in setting aside the survivorship
17 benefit provision of the decree;
- 19 3. Whether the district court erred in denying the NRCP 52(c)
20 motion.

21
22 ...

23
24 ...

25 ...
26

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The parties were married in Las Vegas on June 17, 2006. **APPX**

I:0001. On February 22, 2017, David filed his Complaint for Divorce. **APPX**

I:0001-0006. Sarah filed her Answer and Counterclaim on September 26,

2017. **APPX I:0007-0014**. In March 2018, the parties participated in

mediation with Judge Rhonda Forsberg, prior to her appointment the bench.

APPX IX:1703. At the time, Sarah was represented by Shelly Cooley, Esq.,

and David was represented by Regina McConnell, Esq. **APPX I:0032-0033**.

Although Ms. Cooley began drafting a Decree during the mediation, due to

time constraints resulting from Judge Forsberg's schedule, the parties

concluded the mediation with a short two-and-a-half page Memorandum Of

Understanding ("MOU"). **APPX X:1870-1871, II:0298-0300**. The MOU

was silent as to the survivor benefit provision, merely addressing the division

of the retirement as a whole. **APPX II:0298-0300**. After signing the MOU,

the parties remained at Judge Forsberg's office to continue to work on the

Decree. **APPX X:1870-1871**. Unfortunately, Ms. Cooley's laptop lost power.

APPX X:1871. The parties immediately relocated to Pecos Law Group,

1 which was nearby, to utilize a computer to finalize the Decree. **APPX**
2 **X:1871.** Sarah, Ms. Cooley and Ms. McConnell were standing in the office,
3
4 and David was by the door. **APPX V:0882-0885, 0890-0893; IX:1717-1718.**
5
6 Ms. McConnell was standing behind Ms. Cooley at the computer. **APPX**
7 **V:0892.** The final drafted Decree was 39 pages, addressed the survivor
8 benefit provision, and was silent on the question of merger. **APPX I:0032-**
9
10 **0070.** Sarah, David, Ms. McConnell, and Ms. Cooley signed the Decree that
11 day. **APPX V:0895-0896, VI:0952.**
12

13 Thereafter, Ms. McConnell reached out to Ms. Cooley, indicating that
14 David did not agree to the survivor benefit provision in the Decree which he
15 had signed. **APPX IX:1723-1724.** Ms. Cooley and Ms. McConnell discussed
16 that any failing to address the provision in the Decree would have been
17 malpractice, and Ms. McConnell asked for time to discuss the same with
18 David. **APPX IX:1724; X:1872-1873, 1890-1893.** After hearing nothing
19 from Ms. McConnell for several days, reaching out to her for answer and
20 receiving no response, Ms. Cooley ultimately submitted the Decree to the
21
22
23
24
25
26

1 Court. **APPX X:1873**. The Decree was entered on April 11, 2018. **APPX**
2 **I:0123**.

3
4 On April 25, 2018, David filed a Motion to set aside the survivor
5 benefit option, claiming that he had made a "mistake," because he did not
6 read the Decree before signing. **APPX I:0188-0197**. Judge Cheryl Moss set
7 a trial on the matter, to determine the parties' intent, and what needed to be
8 done with the provision, *if* she set it aside. **APPX II:0277**. Although the
9 Court initially requested that Mr. Willick be an independent expert, because
10 Sarah's counsel had previously spoken to him about the case, she directed
11 that Sarah retain him, and left the option open for David to retain a rebuttal
12 expert. **APPX II:0278, 0376**.

13
14
15
16
17
18
19 Thereafter, David fired Ms. McConnell and retained Shelley Lubritz,
20 Esq. **APPX II:0285-0288**. On May 8, 2019, David filed a Motion to Enforce
21 the MOU. **APPX II:0289-0301**. The Motion argued that the MOU was the
22 only valid contract between the parties and because it did not mention the
23 survivor benefit option at all, the Decree could not do so. **APPX II:0292-**
24 **0293**. On September 5, 2019, David filed a Motion to exclude Mr. Willick's
25
26

1 testimony, which was denied. **APPX II:0365-0374**. The first day of trial
2 occurred on January 27, 2020. **APPX V:0768**. At that time, David presented
3 his case, *and rested*. **APPX V:0768-0941; VI:1005**. Before Sarah could
4 present her case, David renewed his Motion in Limine to exclude Mr.
5 Willick's testimony. **APPX VI:1007-1037**.

8 Judge Moss proposed attempting settlement discussions, which
9 occurred off the record. **APPX II:0439-0440**. Unfortunately, because of
10 calendaring issues, the Court was unable to hold the second day of trial
11 before the mandatory 2020 COVID-19 shut down. **APPX II:0439-0440**. The
12 trial was not concluded before Judge Moss retired in December 2020. **APPX**
13 **IX:1686-1687**.

17 Sarah filed a 52(c) Motion, as David had rested on the first day of trial.
18 **APPX III:0657-0670**. A hearing was held on April 9, 2021. **APPX IX:1674-**
19 **1696**. The District Court made several statements and findings. Among the
20 most critical findings was that Judge Steel was "uncomfortable" making a
21 decision based on the trial transcript (**APPX VI:1113; IX:1686-1687**); and
22 also that she believed making a decision based on the transcript put her in the
23
24
25
26

1 position of being akin to an "appellate judge." APPX IX:1677. She also
2 found that the MOU was a "binding contract," although it was silent on
3 certain terms, that there was a "fiduciary duty" to point out "material
4 changes" between the MOU and the Decree despite the fact that the
5 documents were prepared within a few hours of each other and all parties
6 were present for the drafting of the Decree (which was more than 30 pages
7 longer than the MOU) (APPX VI:1114, 1119; IX:1687-1689), that granting
8 a survivorship benefit could constitute "additional alimony payments," and
9 striking the prior testimony and resetting the trial *de novo*. APPX VI:1120;
10 IX:1687-1689, 1691.

11
12 The new *de novo* trial was set for September 23, 2021. APPX
13 IX:1697. A second day of trial was held on November 15, 2021. APPX
14 X:1843. Once again, David objected to Mr. Willick's testimony. APPX
15 IX:1825-1837. Once again, the Motion was denied. APPX IX:1836-1837.
16
17 Thereafter, the parties filed closing briefs. APPX VII:1375-1391; VIII
18 1392-1441, 1450-1489, 1490-1515. In David's closing brief he again
19 objected to Mr. Willick's testimony. APPX VII:1379-1386. In its final
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

1 Order, the district court reconsidered David's request to strike Mr. Willick's
2 testimony and granted it. **APPX VIII:1519.**

3
4 Ultimately the Court concluded that 1) the MOU is an enforceable
5 contract despite a subsequent written "contract" (the Decree); 2) that no
6 term(s) may be changed or added from an MOU in the final drafting; 3) that
7 there was no "meeting of the minds," with respect to the Decree; 4) that Ms.
8 McConnell's testimony (despite contradicting itself and despite the fact that
9 David was suing her) was more credible than Ms. Cooley's; and 5) that
10 because "survivor benefits" have never been declared to be community
11 property, they cannot be an "omitted asset." **APPX VIII:1522-1530.** As
12 such, Sarah filed her Notice of Appeal on February 15, 2022. **APPX**
13 **IX:1600-1601.**

14 SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

15
16 The District Court improperly denied Sarah's 52(c) Motion, despite the
17 fact that David had presented all of his evidence. Further, the District Court
18 erred in finding, after the trial, that the MOU was not merged or superseded
19 by the Decree pursuant to *Day*, supra; and that David's signature on the
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

1 Decree was "voided" by his belief that the Decree would be reviewed after
2 it was signed, despite case law that the signatory bears the responsibility for
3 reading the document being signed. The Court further erred in allowing
4 David to present parol evidence on the issue, and by applying "contract law"
5 to determine the validity of the *signed* Decree. Finally the Court erred in
6 finding that Sarah had a "fiduciary duty" to David to point out that the
7 provision had been added, in contradiction of existing law, and in
8 determining that the survivor benefit option is not community property.
9
10
11
12

13 ARGUMENT

14 **I. The District Court Erred in Determining That the Survivor** 15 **Benefits Were Not Community Property**

16 **A. Standard of Review**

17 "Conclusions of law, including the interpretation and
18 construction of statutes, are reviewed de novo. Where a statute is clear and
19 unambiguous, this court gives effect to the ordinary meaning of the plain
20 language of the text without turning to other rules of construction.
21
22 Conversely, when a statute is ambiguous, this court construes the statute by
23
24
25
26

1 looking at the Legislature's intent and conforming the construction to public
2 policy. A statute is ambiguous if it is capable of being understood in two or
3 more senses by reasonably informed persons, or is one that otherwise does
4 not speak to the issue before the court." *Chandra v. Schulte*, 135 Nev. 499,
5 501, 454 P.3d 740, 743 (2019). Internal citations omitted.
6

7
8 B. The District Court Erred in Determining That Survivor Benefits
9 Are Not Community Property.
10

11 Retirement benefits have long been considered community property.
12
13 *Kilgore v. Kilgore*, 135 Nev. 357, 360, 449 P.3d 843, 846 (2019). As such,
14 those benefits are subject to the Court's division under NRS 125.150. This
15 Court has consistently held that an employee spouse's options in controlling
16 their retirement are subject to the rights of the non-employee spouse and
17 cannot be used to defeat their community property interests. *See O'Hara v.*
18 *State ex. rel. Pub. Emp. Ret. Bd.*, 104 Nev. 642, 644, 764 P.2d 489 (1988)
19 (stating, "An employee spouse may select among retirement options so long
20 as the community property interest of the nonemployee spouse is not
21 defeated."), *Kilgore*, supra (stating, "an employee spouse should not be able
22
23
24
25
26

1 to defeat the non-employee spouses' interest in the community property by
2 relying on a condition solely within the employee spouses's control). *See also*
3
4 *Carlson v. Carlson*, 108 Nev. 358, 832 P.2d 380 (1992).

5 Until recently, there was no question that this Court considered
6
7 survivor benefits to be at least a part of the retirement benefits. *See Carlson*,
8
9 *Id*; *Wolff v. Wolff*, 112 Nev. 1355, 929 P.2d 916 (1996). Even in *Henson v.*
10 *Henson*, 130 Nev. 814, 334 P.3d 933 (2014), the Court looked at the survivor
11 benefit option through the lens of community property, when it determined
12
13 that 1) the decree could include naming the non-employee spouse the
14 beneficiary (although it did not in that case), 2) that the district court
15
16 specifically found that the benefit was not earned during the marriage, and
17
18 3) that naming any survivor beneficiary was optional and would be reduced
19 from the employee spouse's benefit, thereby having no impact on the non-
20 employee spouse's interest.

21
22 It is only within *Holguin v. Holguin*, Docket No 81373, 491 P.3d 735
23 (Table) (Order Affirming in Part July 23, 2021), that this Court has indicated
24
25 that survivor benefits are not community property. *Holguin* is unpublished,
26

1 and its determination creates a distinct problem for the courts.

2 *Holguin* recognizes the *Henson* holding that survivor benefits can be
3
4 ordered in the Decree of Divorce, despite stating that "Nevada does not
5 consider a survivorship interest to be a community property asset." But
6
7 unless being awarded as spousal support, the court has no authority to divide
8
9 separate property. *Dimick v. Dimick*, 112 Nev. 402, 915 P.2d 254 (1996).
10 Retirement interests cannot be spousal support because that would subject
11 them to later modification. *Carrell v. Carrell*, 108 Nev. 670, 836 P.2d 1243
12 (1992). Therefore *Holguin* creates an untenable consequence, either the court
13 must act in flagrant disregard of the legislature to divide separate property,
14
15 or act in disregard of the long standing case law and statutes that make
16 property divisions unmodifiable. The finding in *Holguin* cannot become
17
18 precedent.
19

20 Further, the Court's finding in *Henson* is based on a material
21
22 misunderstanding of fact, to wit: that "neither the employee nor the
23 nonemployee spouse automatically receives a survivor beneficiary interest."
24
25 *Henson*, 130 Nev. at 820. That premise is not factually accurate. The
26

1 employee spouse has an automatic reversionary interest in the nonemployee
2 spouse's portion of the retirement. **APPX VII:1305, 1329.** The Court's
3
4 holding in *Henson* was based on a misapprehension of fact on this issue, and
5 is therefore in conflict with the statute.
6

7 By failing to address and determine the award of survivor benefit
8 options at the time of divorce, district courts are creating exactly the
9 inequitable result with which this Court was concerned in *O'Hara*, supra, and
10 *Kilgore*, supra.
11

12
13 The Court in *Wolff* appears to have been attempting to address that
14 issue, finding that "[a]lthough a former spouse's estate is not encompassed
15 by the definition of alternate payee in NRS 286.6703(4), we conclude that
16 [the] estate should be entitled to [its] share of [the] retirement..." 112 Nev. at
17 1362.¹
18

19
20 ...
21

22 ...
23

24
25 ¹ It appears that the Court believed that PERS divided their pensions at the
26 source, rather than the payment stream, which is an error of fact.

1 Evidently, the Court believed that, despite it expanding the class of
2 persons recognized as an alternate payee, PERS would comply with those
3 Court Orders. Unfortunately, the Court appears to have been (and thereafter
4 remained) unaware of the testimony of George Pyne, a representative from
5 PERS speaking to the Senate Finance Committee on June 2, 1993 with
6 respect to AB 555. According to the committee minutes from that date, Mr.
7 Pyne stated that, "the purpose of the legislation is to reemphasize to the
8 courts that **before the retirement system will comply with a court order** with
9 respect to dividing a [member's] benefits with his or her divorced spouse, the
10 **court order shall comply with the provisions and terms of the retirement act.**"
11 Marshal Willick, Esq., *A Primer on Nevada Pension Law in Divorce, PERS,*
12 *and NRS 125.155*, 14, citing colloquy between Assemblyman McGaughey
13 and Mr. Pyne (March 6, 2010) (copy on file with author) (emphasis added).

14
15
16 Two years after AB 555 was enacted and the comments referenced
17 herein were made, the Nevada legislature undertook a bill (AB 292) that
18 ultimately resulted in the enactment of NRS 125.155. NRS 125.155(3)(b)
19 allows the Court to designate that a party's interest or entitlement be
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

1 continued past the death of either party by Court Order.

2 The bill is subject to some controversy over its enactment, though the
3
4 legislative history itself is fairly sparse.² The resulting statute is at various
5
6 points vague and confusing. Ultimately, however, the reasons the bill was
7
8 supported, passed, or even objected to, are not relevant. What is relevant is
9
10 why the legislature adopted the statute it did, and what it means for survivor
11
12 benefits. It is unquestionable from the legislature history that retirement
13
14 accounts are community property. A.B. 292, Chapter 576, Nev. Legislature
15
16 68th Session, 11 (1995).

17 There is no indication in the legislative history as to why the provision
18
19 related to survivor benefits was added. In fact, prior to the third reading in the
20
21 Senate, at which time the bill was moved to the general file for consideration,
22
23 the language had the benefits terminating at the death of either party. *Id.* at
24
25 4, 50, 54, 64, 85-87. The Journal of the Senate notes that the amendment was
26
proposed by the Committee on the Judiciary and that Senator James made

² A history of that controversy is set forth in Mr. Willick's above referenced
primer, which can be provided as a supplement should the Court desire it.

1 remarks after proposing the adoption of the amendment, but no remarks
2 related to the modification of the survivor benefit language were included.
3

4 *Id.* at 90-91. The bill passed as amended in the Senate with no comments
5 regarding the addition of the survivor benefit language and was returned to
6 the Assembly for consideration and passed. *Id.*
7

8 It is unknown, therefore, why the legislature amended the bill to allow
9 survivor benefits to be addressed in a Court Order, but what is known from
10 the legislature history is that substantial discussion revolved around equity
11 and effectuating an equal division of community property - and that
12 ultimately survivor benefits were included.
13
14
15

16 A contrary argument can be made that the wording of the statute -
17 indicating that the termination occurs upon death absent an agreement or Court
18 Order - indicates that the legislature did not specifically consider the benefit to
19 be community property, but that would be a misunderstanding of the intentions
20 of chapter 125. The statute just preceding NRS 125.155 is NRS 125.150 - which
21 specifically addresses how community property is to be divided.
22
23
24

25 . . .
26

1 That statute states, in relevant part:

2
3 In granting a divorce the court:

4 Shall, to the extent practicable, make an equal
5 disposition of the community property of the parties,
6 including, without limitation, any community
7 property transferred into an irrevocable trust pursuant
8 to NRS 123.125 over which the court acquires
9 jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 164.010, except that the
10 court may make an unequal division of the
11 community property in such proportion as it deems
12 just if the court finds a compelling reason to do so
13 and sets forth in writing the reasons for making the
14 unequal disposition.

15 NRS 125.150(1)(b).
16

17 NRS 125.150 was revised in 1993 and the language above was clearly
18 familiar to the legislature two years later when they adopted NRS 125.155.
19

20 Statutes are not considered in a vacuum. *Knickmeyer v. State*, 133 Nev.
21 675, 680, 408 P.3d 161 (Nev.App. 2017) ("We presume that the Legislature
22 enact[s a] statute with full knowledge of existing statutes relating to the same
23 subject."). When NRS 125.150 and NRS 125.155 are read together, it is
24
25
26 apparent that the intention was to leave the court's existing discretion to make

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