# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OCT 10 2022 09:28 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

SARAH JANEEN	ROSE,	) (
		)
	Appellant,	)
VS.		)
		)
DAVID JOHN ROSE,		)
		)
	Respondent.	)
		)

Case No.: 84295

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### **Attorney for Respondent:**

SHELLEY LUBRITZ, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 5410 LAW OFFICE OF SHELLEY LUBRITZ, PLLC 375 East Warm Springs Rd., Suite 104 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 Telephone: (702) 833-1300 Email: shelley@lubritzlawoffice.com

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SARAH JANEEN ROSE,	)	Case No.:	84295
	)		
Appellant,	)		
VS.	)		
	)		
DAVID JOHN ROSE,	)		
	)		
Respondent.	)		
	)		

#### NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

Sarah and Cooley acted not only in breach of the express terms of the MOU, but intentionally and surreptitiously inserted the SBP and merger terms into the Decree.

Sarah and Cooley not only committed fraud on the David by giving him a Decree to sign that contained fugitive provisions, but they committed fraud on the Court also. The *Supreme Court of Nevada*, defines "fraud upon the court" as:

[T]hat species of fraud which does, or attempts to, subvert the integrity of the court itself, or is a fraud perpetrated by officers of the court so that the judicial machinery cannot perform in the usual manner its impartial task of adjudging cases . . . and relief should be denied in the absence of such conduct.

*NC-DSH, Inc. v. Garner*, 125 Nev. 647, 654, 218 P.3d 853, 858 (2009) (quoting *Demjanjuk v. Petrovsky*, 10 F.3d 338, 352 (6th Cir. 1994)).

Relief based on fraud on the court "is addressed to the sound discretion of the district court." *Id.* at 657, 218 P.3d at 861.

The FFCL as entered by the District Court support a finding of fraud and fraud on the court. First, the Decree that was signed unknowingly by the District Court would not have been obtained but for the fraudulent and improper conduct of the Sarah and Cooley. Here Sarah's counsel seized upon the signing of the draft Decree by David and McConnell to knowingly create a Decree that was in violation of the express terms of the MOU. They then presented this fugitive Decree to the District Court under the express representation that this was a stipulated and agreed upon Decree. It was not, and they knew it. When confronted with the truth that the Decree as signed and entered by the District Court was not as represented, namely a stipulated and agreed upon Decree that followed the terms of the MOU; did Sarah and Cooley act ethically and properly to correct the Decree? The answer is a resounding NO. Instead, Sarah's reaction was "it would cost him if she resigned the decree" [APPX 6:965]; Cooley's reaction was there would have to be "further negotiations or she would file the copy in her possession." [APPX 10:1526].

These acts, as well as the many other acts and omissions set forth herein above, without question merited relief. Cooley's conduct can only be described as a breach of her duty of candor to the court. Counsel violates his or her duty of candor to the court when counsel, "proffers a material fact that he knew or should have known to be false", *see generally Sierra Glass* & *Mirror v. Viking Indus., Inc.,* 107 Nev. 119, 125-26 (1991).

Here, Sarah and Cooley submitted to the District Court a Decree that was represented to be agreed and stipulated to by the parties and one that reflected the terms of the MOU that was attached thereto. The District Court would have never signed the Decree if it had known that there were terms contained in the Decree that were never agreed to and were contrary to the MOU. These are material facts that would have changed the District Court's action and judgment and both Sarah and Cooley knew this.

- ///
- \//\
- ///
- ///
- ///

The parties enter into settlement negotiations with the understanding that, once reduced to writing, the MOU will be enforced and unaltered. Denying enforcement of the MOU will have a chilling effect on many parties who may enter settlement negotiations. The knowing, willful, and surreptitious insertion of the provision granting Sarah the SBP has the effect of reducing the amount of David's monthly pension upon retirement and grants Sarah something to which she would not be entitled absent the insertion of the offending paragraphs.

Turning to the "how" the disputed provision was inserted into the Decree, David submits the following. The testimony as to whether the SBP was considered at the March 23, 2018 Mediation is clear. Sarah acknowledged that the issue was addressed and that David did not consent to designating her as the SBP to his PERS. [APPX 8:1189-91; 9:1714]. As such, the SBP were not included in the MOU. [APPX 9:1715]. The parties and McConnell testified that on March 23, 2018, David and Sarah, participated in the Mediation presided over by Forsberg who drafted an MOU memorializing the terms of the parties' agreement. [APPX 9:1517]. Both parties and their respective counsel signed the MOU while at Forsberg's office. [APPX 9:1517].

All three testified that the Decree was drafted directly after the Mediation on March 23, 2018. [APPX 9:1517]. The parties and their respective counsel signed the Decree that day with the understanding that McConnell would maintain the original document for further review prior to its submission to the District Court. [APPX 1:164; 8:1517-18; 9:1723; 10:1888].

The wrongdoing of Cooley is at the forefront of this dispute. Sarah acted in concert with her former counsel to obtain David's signature on the Decree. Because Nevada does not recognize SBP to a retirement as community property, the only way Sarah could receive these benefits was through the Decree or other Order of the Court.

Specifically, Cooley testified that while they were "working on issues" she began drafting the Decree and made revisions as Judge Forsberg "came in and out" of the rooms. [APPX 10:1870]. The timing is of specific import. Upon being notified that David refused to grant Sarah the SBP, Cooley intentionally included the offending paragraphs in the Decree. The District Court found McConnell to be more credible than Cooley. [APPX 8:1526]. David respectfully submits Cooley perjured herself when she testified that Forsberg advised the parties and counsel that she "had to catch a flight so she would have to stop the mediation at a certain time" at which point a hearsay objection was interposed but the testimony was not stricken. Upon the Court's admonition, Ms. Cooley testified:

> It was my understanding that we had to - - um - stop working with the settlement judge at a certain time because she was no longer available but we had most of the issues resolved so it was offered that we could stay there and continue negotiating -- um - - because there was staff present. So, when Ms. Forberg - - Forsberg - - left, we continued negotiating issues and I continued working on the Decree and at some point, probably it was in the -- in the late afternoon my computer died - - um --and I forgot to bring my charger with me so we went to another office so that I could finish drafting the Decree because we had - - um - - all issues resolved. [APPX 10:1870-71] (emphasis).

Cooley's direct testimony shockingly contravened that of the parties and McConnell in the initial evidentiary hearing presided over by the Judge Moss. It also contravened the testimony of all three at the September 23, 2021 evidentiary hearing presided over by Judge Steel.

David submits it was at this point that Sarah's current counsel should have stopped her examination of Cooley because it was so clearly false and was radically different than her own client's testimony. Rather than do so, counsel continued her examination and Cooley continued to testify.

It has long been the position of David and McConnell that after

approximately six (6) hours of mediation, further review of the proposed

Stipulated Decree of Divorce was needed. In support thereof, Ms.

McConnell retained the original Decree. [APPX 9:1723].

On this issue, Ms. Cooley testified that:

We finalized the Decree - - um - - while we were finalizing the Decree - - well after we finalized the Decree - - um - - Regina McConnell and I went through the Decree a few times - - um - from start to finish to make sure it was what we agreed to in the settlement conference, Um, once she and I both agreed that it was final we printed it out. I reviewed it with my client and signed it. I gave the original to Regina and she provided the original back to me with her - - her and her client's signature. [APPX 10:1871].

At the September 23, 2021 evidentiary hearing, upon a review of

Page 23, Paragraph B of the Decree, McConnell testified that the provision awarding Sarah the SBP was inconsistent with the parties' agreement and was not negotiated. [APPX 9:1715; 1719-20].

McConnell testified further that she became aware of the inclusion of

Paragraph B on Page 23 of the Decree "a couple of days" after signing it.

[APPX 9:1722]. Prior to submission to the District Court, she flipped

through the original Decree and saw the paragraph awarding the SBP to

Sarah at which point she contacted Cooley. The call took place prior to

April 11, 2018. [APPX 9:1723]. Notwithstanding their conversation, Cooley

submitted the copy version of the Decree for filing.

David submits that the testimony of his former wife and her counsel

evidenced their fraudulent insertion of the disputed provision.

- Q. And would you please follow along with me while I read from the MOU starting on the fifth line down?
- A. Okay.
- Q. It says the memorandum addresses the material terms of the agreement and is intended to bind the parties to those terms. Did I read that accurately?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. Would you consider irrevocable survivor benefits to Mr. Rose's PERS to be a material term? Yes or no?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now when I use the acronym PERS, do you understand that it's the -- I'm referring to the Public Employee Retirement System pension?
- A. Yes.
- Q. When you signed the MOU, you relied on the fact that the terms set forth in it would not be changed, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And if there were modifications to the terms agreed to at the

mediation, you would have expected those modifications to be pointed out to you before signing it, correct?

- A. Correct.
- Q. Specifically, please direct the Court's attention to the provision in the MOU naming you the irrevocable survivor beneficiary to Mr. Rose's PERS retirement account.
- A. It does not say.
- Q. At no point did you or your lawyer say to Ms. For Forsberg, wait a minute. You left out a provision granting me the irrevocable survivor beneficiary rights, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. It's accurate to state that you and Mr. Rose did not discuss the terms of the MOU from the time it was signed until the time the decree was signed, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And it's also an accurate statement that between the signing of the MOU and the signing of the decree of divorce, you and Mr. Rose did not discuss modifying the terms of the MOU, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Now between the signing of the MOU and signing the decree of divorce, you and Mr. Rose made no agreement to name you as the irrevocable survivor beneficiary to his PERS retirement account, correct.
- A. Correct.
- Q. At the time you signed the decree of divorce, you knew that the provision awarding you irrevocable survivor benefits to Mr. Rose's PERS was included in the decree, correct?
- A. I did.
- Q. Okay. Do you have an opinion as to why Mr. Rose signed the Decree of Divorce?

\* \* \* \*

THE WITNESS: My opinion is he wanted to be divorced.

\* \* \* \*

Q. ...Is it your opinion that Mr. Rose wanted the divorce decree to be signed that day?

- A. Yes.
- Q. And he was willing to give you the irrevocable survivor beneficiary rights in order to have the decree signed that day?
- A. No.

[APPX 8:1189; 1191, 1193, 1237-38].

Sarah knew David did not agree to grant her the SBP to his PERS. The District Court further found that Cooley had an obligation to apprise McConnell of their inclusion prior to signing. "Without the disclosure, [Cooley] surreptitiously inserted the Survivor Beneficiary and merger terms in the Decree, informing only her client." [APPX 8:1543]. Cooley's decision to include the terms "smacks of unfair dealing and the failure to act in good faith." [APPX 8:1546]

It bears repeating that prior to any signing, there was an agreement between the attorneys, an agreement upon which David relied, that McConnell would retain the original version of the Decree for further review prior to its filing. Cooley breached this covenant when she submitted the copy version of the Decree without notifying McConnell.

///

///

Motions under *NRCP* 60(b) are within the sound discretion of the district court, and this court will not disturb the district court's decision absent an abuse of discretion. *Heard v. Fisher's & Cobb Sales & Distrib., Inc.*, 88 Nev. 566, 568, 502 P.2d 104, 105 (1972).

Moreover, the record clearly demonstrates that the representations were the result of either mistake or fraud. A mutual mistake entitles a party to relief from a judgment. *NRCP* 60(b)(1). Such fraud is grounds for relief from the judgment pursuant to *NRCP* 60(b).

The District Court's granting of the *NRCP* 60(b) Motion was correct. It prevented Sarah's and Cooley's larceny of David's right to choose his SBP at the time of retirement by granting to his former wife something to which she would not otherwise be entitled.

Attorneys have duties: (a) the duty of candor with the tribunal (RPC 3.3); (b) fairness to opposing party (RPC 3.4); and (c) truthfulness in statements to other Rules of Professional Conduct.

Each of these obligations imply the duty that the Court characterized as fiduciary duty. The fact that the District Court may not have been exact in describing these duties as a "fiduciary duty," does not diminish them. Cooley breached these duties by secretly adding the paragraphs awarding Sarah the SBP and merger without specifically notifying McConnell of the inclusions.<sup>12</sup> Such wrongdoing is another basis to support the District Court granting David's Motion to Set Aside/*NRCP* 60(b) the offending paragraphs of the Decree.

*Yee* also cites to the *Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 172 (1981), which further states that "[a] recipient's fault in not knowing or discovering the facts before making the contract does not make his reliance unjustified *unless it amounts to a failure to act in good faith and in accordance with reasonable standards of fair dealing*." *Id*. The Court then goes on to note that "the comments []<sup>13</sup> note that if the recipient should have discovered the falsity by making a cursory examination, his reliance is clearly not justified and he is not entitled to relief, he is expected to use his sense and not rely blindly on the maker's assertions." *Id*. (emphasis)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This Court may affirm the lower court on any grounds supported by the record. *See Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores*, 126 Nev. 592 245 P.3d 1198 (2010); *Rosenstein v. Steel*, 103 Nev. 571, 575, 747 P.2d 230, 233 (1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Sarah omitted the citation to §172 which is in the original quote.

# VI. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE *NRCP* 52(c) MOTION</u>

In her Opening Brief, Sarah materially misrepresents that "After the conclusion of the first day of trial, Sarah filed a "Motion pursuant to 52(c) for judgment on partial findings." [*See* Opening Brief, Page 54]. The chronology is incorrect.

The "trial" to which Sarah refers was an evidentiary hearing on David's *NRCP* 60(b) Motion. [APPX 1:223-26, 277-79]. Judge Moss took testimony on January 27, 2020. [APPX 5:768-941]. Sarah filed her *NRCP* 52(c) Motion on February 12, 2021, or nearly one (1) year later. [APPX 3:657-670]. Additionally, prior to its filing, Sarah began her case in chief.

A trial was not held in the District Court. On April 25, 2018, David filed his Motion to Set Aside. [APPX 1:188-197]. Each proceeding thereafter were motion hearings. Judges Moss and Steele took testimony during evidentiary hearings on David's *NRCP* 60(b) Motion.

///

///

NRCP Rule 52 provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

(c) Judgment on Partial Findings. If a party has been fully heard on an issue during a nonjury trial and the court finds against the party on that issue, the court may enter judgment against the party on a claim or defense that, under the controlling law, can be maintained or defeated only with a favorable finding on that issue. The court may, however, decline to render any judgment until the close of the evidence. A judgment on partial findings must be supported by findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by Rule 52(a).

An evidentiary hearing on a motion is a hearing where the judge makes a final decision about one (1) part of a case; while a trial is a final hearing where the judge will decide all remaining issues. *NRCP* 52(c) is inapplicable. It was plain error by the District Court to even hear the motion.<sup>14</sup>

///

///

The ability of this court to consider relevant issues *sua sponte* in order to prevent plain error is well established. *See e.g. Western Indus., Inc. v. General Ins. Co.*, 91 Nev. 222, 230, 533 P.2d 473, 478 (1975). Such is the case were a statute which is clearly controlling was not applied by the trial court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See Bradley v. Romero, 102 Nev. 103, 105, 716 P.2d 227, 228 (1996)

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